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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 25512                                                                                                               Juneau, Alaska 99802-5512

	RANDALL C. WOLF, DDS, 

                                                   Employee, 

                                                            Applicant,

                                                   v. 

WOLF DENTAL SERVICES, INC.,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

FIREMAN’S FUND INSURANCE CO.,

                                                  Insurer,

And 

CNA/NORTHERN ADJUSTERS,

                                                   Insurer,                                                                        

                                                            Defendants.
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	          FINAL

          DECISION AND ORDER

        AWCB Case No.  199927043
        AWCB Decision No.  03-0280

         Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

         on  November  26th ,  2003


              On April 17, 2003 and September 18 and 19, 2003, we heard the employee’s claims for workers’ compensation benefits.  The employee appeared in person and was represented by Charles Coe, attorney at law.  The employer’s insurer as of March 1, 1999, Fireman’s Fund Insurance Company (Fireman’s Fund) was represented by Trena L. Heikes, attorney at law.  The employer’s insurer prior to March 1999, CNA/Northern Adjusters (CNA) was represented by Constance E. Livsey, attorney at law.  Intervenor Health Care Recoveries, Inc., acting on behalf of The Principal Life Insurance Company, was represented by Meredith A. Ahearn, attorney at law.  We closed the record when briefs from the parties and the intervenor were submitted October 31, 2003.


ISSUES
1. Is the employee entitled to the presumption of compensability under AS 23.30.120?

2. Was the employee’s work a substantial factor in bringing about his injuries?

3. Is the employee’s claim time barred due to failure to comply with AS 23.30.105?

4. Is Fireman’s Fund responsible for the employee’s claim under the last injurious exposure rule?

5. Is the employee entitled to medical benefits under AS 23.30.095?

6. Is the employee owed temporary total disability (TTD) benefits pursuant to AS 23.30.185?

7. Is the employee owed permanent total disability (PTD) benefits pursuant to AS 23.30.180?

8. Has the employee incurred any permanent partial impairment (PPI)?  Is he entitled to benefits under AS 23.30.190?

9. Is the employee entitled to reemployment benefits under AS 23.30.041?

10. Is the employee entitled to attorney’s fees and costs?


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE
I.  HISTORY OF THE CLAIM
         The employee is a periodontal surgeon who has practiced in Anchorage since l985.  His business is conducted through Wolf Dental Services, Inc.  He operated as a sole proprietor until after his 1999 injury and then incorporated in 2000.  He purchased workers’ compensation coverage for himself and his employees through CNA up until February 28, 1999.  Beginning March 1, 1999, the workers’ compensation insurance was obtained through Fireman’s Fund.  

          On September 16, 1996, the employee was involved in a motor vehicle accident in Anchorage.  His vehicle struck another vehicle that turned in front of him.
  The employee sought treatment at Providence Hospital.  His diagnosis was “cervical strain”.
  His cervical x-rays showed some arthritic changes but were otherwise unremarkable.  He did not report weakness.  He had a tender area at the base of his neck.  The neurological examination was normal.  He was given a surgical collar.

          He underwent a period of physical therapy as prescribed by his treating physician, John Mues, M.D.
 His treatment was basically conservative.  He underwent no MRI’s.
  The employee had never had neck pain prior to the accident. He also had not had any back pain.
  

            After a period of recuperation, the employee returned to his practice. His practice involved many hours devoted to oral surgery.  He explained that as a periodontist, “…you make an incision, you have to hold the tissue back with a different retractor, not a mirror.  You have to bend around and get in this much more contorted position than most dentists do.”
 The employee experienced progressive neck pain after the accident.  Notwithstanding his pain, he continued with his exercise program which included cross-country skiing and a self directed exercise program.  Despite his efforts to resolve his neck condition, he was never “pain free.”
    His approach was “…I had to go and do—that physical exercise is what I thought was the way to get out of this problem.”

            The employee’s dental practice required that he assume what he terms the “vulture” position for long periods of time as he performs oral surgery on patients.  He described it as leaning over the patient with his head tipped down and arms stretched out.
   This position placed considerable stress on his arms, shoulders and neck and back.  He maintained a regular schedule of surgery of 4-5 hours in the morning and shorter procedures in the afternoon interspersed with examinations.
  He worked 50 to 55 hours a week. 

            When the employee’s neck continued to hurt, he consulted with various physicians regarding his neck problem. None advised him to stop working.  He continued to work even though he noted that after several days of work, his neck pain increased.  After time off work, his neck pain decreased.
 As he put it, “Going in and leaning over and getting in that dentist’s position definitely aggravated that injury.”

             The employee filed a lawsuit against the driver of the other vehicle.   The carrier was Allstate.    He also filed a lawsuit against his insurer, Kemper, for failing to provide adequate  coverage.  The employee received settlements from these lawsuits.   He received a settlement from the third party driver, after legal expenses, of $95,997.00 in September 7, 1999.
  He also received $925,209.00 in the “Kemper” settlement involving his uninsured motorist claim of which  $10,000.00 was for medical payment limits.
 This net figure includes $532,469.00 for the umbrella policy portion of the settlement and $392,740.00 for the uninsured motorist portion.  This agreement was executed January 28, 2002.
  He also received disability benefits from a disability insurance policy he purchased with his own funds.

             In mid 1998, the employee discussed his continuing neck problems with Morris Horning, M.D.  Dr. Horning suggested the employee contact a physiatrist who was another member of his clinic.
  Based on this recommendation, the employee began treating with Larry Levine, M.D., a physiatrist, on October 5, 1998.   Dr. Levine treated the employee conservatively.  He prescribed physical therapy beginning in October 1998.
                                   The physical therapist, Luci Bennett, noted a reduction in the employee’s cervical mobility.
 A cervical MRI
 was performed on October   6, 1998.  The impression was as follows:

              Small central protrusion of disk material, C6-7.   Spurring and disk material eccentric to right side at C5-6 Narrowing right foramen with left-sided foraminal narrowing by spurring at this level.  Spurring and soft disk material eccentric to the right at C4-5 narrowing right foreman.  Minimal spurring narrowing right foramen, C3-4.

 Dr. Levine also recommended an ergonomic study which was performed  by John DeCarlo.  The study was performed February 3, 1999.  After observing the employee performing a procedure, he summarized the stressors as follows:  

1. It can be noted in nearly every photograph that Dr. Wolf is working with his neck protracted and partially flexed.  This puts the extensor muscles of the neck in a position where they are being partially stretched while they are also maintaining a static contraction.  This is very fatiguing for the neck musculature.  It can lead to decreased circulation to the soft tissue, leading to myofascial pain and further muscle guarding.  This sets up a cycle of soft tissue pain.

2. Typically, his left arm is supported on the left armrest or is abducted closely to the side of his body, providing some support.  The right arm, however, is abducted the majority of the time, with some scapular elevation.  In addition, because of the way he is reaching, there is some scapular protraction.  These static postures of the shoulder girdle musculature can be compared to the stressors at the neck, in that the middle trapezius and rhomboids are put in a position of stretch at the same time.  His upper trapezius is also firing consistently as he abducts the shoulder.  

3. Periodically, though somewhat less frequently than the shoulder abduction and neck flexion, he tilts his neck to the side as he positions himself to inspect his work.

4. Dr. Wolf does not use the right armrest or the seat back for postural support.  It is noted that he is typically in a flat-back or round-back posture, putting further stress on the discs of the low and mid back.

Mr. DeCarlo recommended adjusting his work stool, strengthening postural muscles of the spine and shoulder girdle through an exercise program and frequent stretching.

          During the course of his treatment of the employee, Dr. Levine also observed the types of work the employee was doing and the postures required to perform periodontal surgery.
  The employee did purchase equipment to help him modify the physical positions and muscle strain associated with his work.  However, these alterations were only partially successful in minimizing the impact on his muscles and still allowing him to perform his surgeries.  Essentially, he started having problems in other areas although he tried to incorporate ergonomic recommendations.

          Cervical spine x-rays were done February 11, 1999.  They showed minimal degenerative disc disease at C5-6.
  On February 13, 1999, the employee had a baseline physical at the Mayo Clinic in Scottsdale, Arizona.
 The employee had three days of tests.  One of the recommendations was that an ergonomic evaluation be performed.
 He did so in part because he wanted to know if his neck condition was going to be okay with working or whether he would continue to go “downhill.”
  Early in March, 1999, Dr. Levine administered cervical injections which afforded the employee some relief.
  

          On March 16, 1999, the employee experienced a dramatic increase in his shoulder pain.
  It was not clear whether a specific event brought on this dramatic deterioration in his neck condition.  The employer Fireman’s Fund claims it might have had something to do with his snow machining in the preceding weeks.  The employee described it as having had the auto accident and “over a period of years I went downhill until I had this catastrophic event.”
 The employee saw Dr. Levine again complaining of severe pain in his right shoulder and inability to use his right arm.
  The employee believed his work aggravated the auto injury causing his neck and back to deteriorate because of the positions he maintained in the course of performing surgery.
  When Dr. Levine saw the employee again on March 29, 1999, he noted that the employee had profound weakness in his shoulder which had not been observed before. 

          A cervical spine MRI was done on April 9, 1999.
  It showed a right sided herniated disc. The impression was as follows:

          Findings felt to be most consistent with a primarily right sided herniated disk with some central component at the C4-5 level.  Degenerative disk disease is also noted at the C5-6 and 6-7 levels with primarily central bulges at both of these levels.  There is also neural foraminal narrowing on the right side at C5-6 and 6-7 level.

 The employee again saw Dr. Levine on April 9, 1999.  He noted the employee’s shoulder atrophy.
 He also noted weakness in the employee’s arm.
  Dr. Levine also noted loss of signal or irritability on the EMG or electrodiagnostic tests which had not been present before.
 The employee’s muscles were not reacting as they normally would. Dr. Levine considered this to be evidence of substantial worsening of the employee’s condition.
 He also suspected a C5 injury.
  Dr. Levine then referred him to Timothy Cohen, M.D., an orthopedic surgeon. Dr. Cohen also felt the employee had a significant cervical radiculopathy.
  Dr. Cohen performed a C4-6 neck fusion on the employee on April 12, 1999.  As of June 3, 1999, Dr. Cohen noted that the employee could not return to work as a periodontist.
  The report of injury was filed on this date, stating March 16, 1999 as the date of injury.
 The employee did so as he felt it was blatantly apparent that his work position aggravated the injury.
   

               This surgery brought about some relief from the employee’s pain.
   Beginning March 16, 1999, the employee had to modify his work schedule to take time off.  He then returned to work on a modified schedule until the surgery.  After his neck surgery, he returned to some work activities in July 1999.  He described his experience as follows:  “…so I would try to do a little short procedure; and instead of doing six or seven hours of surgery a day, I would try it—something that would take me 40 minutes, it would take me an hour and 15 minutes to do that, and then I was all wrung out for the rest of the day.”
 He also found that his endurance was low.
 

           The employee had also been experiencing shoulder pain which Dr. Cohen believed was related to C5 nerve problems which were also related to the neck condition.  On October 6, 1999, Dr. Cohen performed a supraspinatus nerve release.  The purpose was to restore nerve function.
  This procedure resulted in some improvement in the employee’s condition.  However, his condition remained unstable.  The employee was only able to return to work for brief periods of time.  Sometimes he could work for only a few hours a day.  The employee pursued physical therapy and continued with home exercise.

            Ultimately, the employee’s efforts to return to work were unsuccessful and he sold his practice in February 2000.
 He performed very little dental surgical work.  He did provide occasional consultation and sedation in some cases.  He has been exploring other career alternatives.

            The employee was determined to be medically stable as of March 13, 2000.  Dr. Levine determined the employee met the DRE cervicothoracic Category 3.  He was given a 10% impairment to the right upper extremity because of the suprascapular nerve injury.   He was given a total Permanent Partial Impairment (PPI) rating of 20%.
  His problem list included:       1.   cervical strain, whiplash syndrome, with disc herniation and cervical 

radiculopathy;

                     2. status post decompressive cervical spine surgery based on cervical radiculopathy;

3. suprascapular  nerve impingement, status post decompression;

4. severe atrophy in C5/C6 suprascapular nerve distribution with marked atrophy.

 

  From July 11, 1999 through the date he was rated, the employee received reduced earnings.
  When the employee was working full time, he estimated net earnings of $6,631.00 per week.  After his injury, his earnings were minus $4,474.00 per week.

              The employee was again seen at the Mayo Clinic on June 13, 2000.  The physicians there confirmed the views of Dr. Levine and Dr. Cohen that the employee could not return to work.

              In July 2000, CNA was impled.  It provided workers’ compensation insurance coverage for the employee from sometime in 1995 to February 28, 1999.  

             The employee filed his workers’ compensation claim.  It was controverted by the employer on March 29, 1999.
   The claim was amended March 1, 2001.  In the amended claim, the employee seeks:

1. Temporary Total Disability (TTD) from March 16, 1999 through the present;

2. Temporary Partial Disability (TPD) from October 1, 1999 through the present;

3. Permanent Total Disability (PTD) from March 16, 1999 through present;

4. Medical costs;

5. Attorney’s fees and costs.

             In April 2001, the employee returned to the Mayo Clinic in Scottsdale, Arizona for a reevaluation.  He did so to see if there was any additional treatment he could pursue.
  

             At the first day of hearing, Health Care Recoveries petitioned to intervene on behalf of the employee’s private health insurance company, Principal Life Insurance Company.  The petition was granted by the Board.   Up until April 1999, the employee paid his own medical expenses amounting to $35,963.00.
  Thereafter, they were paid by Principal.  Principal has a medical lien for approximately $36,428.00 in medical expenses which it asserts should be paid by the workers’ compensation insurer if the injury is found to be work-related.

          The employee provided extensive testimony through depositions and at the hearing.  The following summarizes his comments.  With respect to his posture when performing surgery, he testified that he had to maintain an odd posture as periodontal surgery involves cutting under the gums and under the tooth and then working in this position for four to five hours a day.
 He strongly believes that it was working in this position after his auto accident that made his condition worse.  In this regard, he cites the higher incidence of neck problems among dentists.
 The employee does not believe any of his recreational activities contributed significantly to his neck and shoulder problems.  He did not believe he had a permanent injury before April 9, 1999 with the MRI showing disc herniation.
  With regard to his medical expenses, he paid out of pocket $24,112.00.
 Principal began paying for his medical expenses after the employee began seeing Dr. Cohen in April 1999.  With respect to accusations from the employer that he blamed the auto accident for his symptoms in one forum and work in another, the employee explained that he had an auto injury which affected his neck in 1996 and only with the passage of several years did the work aggravation set in as a factor contributing to his disability.
 As early as his interview with Carol Ferry, in connection with the third party matter, the employee explained that his work was a contributing factor to his injury.
  With respect to the settlements he received from the third party lawsuits as well as disability insurance benefits, the employee notes that his economic losses from not being able to continue in his practice far exceed any settlements he may have received.  He received estimates from vocational rehabilitation evaluations suggesting his losses were between four and seven million dollars over the next ten years.
   The employee also considers himself to be at risk for future surgery.
 

II.  SUMMARY OF MEDICAL EVIDENCE
         As this case turns on which of the various medical experts should be relied upon in determining compensability, each of the medical experts opinion and testimony are  reviewed.   The following represents summaries of the expert’s written reports and, in some cases, deposition and live testimony.  

A.  Employee’s Medical Experts
1. Larry Levine, M.D.

         Dr. Levine is a physician practicing in physical medicine and rehabilitation. He describes physical medicine as a combination between a nonoperative orthopedic surgeon and a neurologist.
 He is also Board certified in EMG’s.
 He served as a SIME for the Board for several years.  He has been the employee’s treating physician since October 1998.  When he first saw the employee, he did not believe that he was a surgical candidate. He recommended conservative care.  Dr. Levine opines that work was a substantial factor in aggravating, worsening or accelerating his underlying neck conditions.
  He bases his conclusion in part on the employee not having radiculopathy issues based on his EMG studies until March 1999.  He stated “You put your neck in a bad position, you have a problem.”
  “The thing we tell people when they have cervical degenerative changes or a disk that’s starting to herniate or having radiating symptoms, you don’t want to encroach on that nerve.  You don’t want to put your head in a position to make that area narrower, and the way you do that is you avoid lateral bending and rotation.
  He believed that the employee’s neck fusion surgery was critical to avoid nerve damage and to increase the employee’s functional status.
  As he put it, “If you leave the nerve compressed too long, it won’t come back, and we were thinking let’s do everything possible to try and get it back.”
 Dr. Levine also believes that the employee will need continuing medical care in the future based on his auto accident and the two surgeries he has undergone.
 As far as the relationship between the employee’s work and his surgery and disability, Dr. Levine opined:

If I had to answer at this time I believe his work as a periodontist would be a substantial factor resulting in the need for cervical spine fusion.  There are reports in early March of continued flare-ups with work and we have an ergonomic evaluation showing significant abnormality of cervical spine posture.  His whiplash injury did not cause a disc herniation as has been reviewed by MRI.  The disc herniation came at a later date.  I will meet with Dr. Wolf and review this in chronological order and try to attribute cause.

          Dr. Levine also commented on the employer’s medical experts and their assessments of the employee’s condition.  With regard to Dr. Spindle’s report which recommended  surgery at an earlier time, Dr. Levine believes there was not sufficient evidence to justify neck fusion surgery prior to the time it was done in April 1999.
 When he first saw the employee, there was no muscle weakness and no significant evidence of cervical radiculopathy at the employee’s first visit to Dr. Levine in October 1998.
  He also rejects Dr. Spindle’s conclusion that none of the employee’s neck and shoulder  problems are caused by work.
  Dr. Levine opined that all the indicators were of a cervical disc herniation which needed to be dealt with first and only after that would the matter of the suprascapular nerve be addressed.

           With regard to the report of Drs. Laycoe, Robinson and Fechtel, Dr. Levine disagreed with Dr. Laycoe’s conclusion that the problem was with the suprascapular nerve rather than the neck.  Dr. Levine claimed that this overlooks the disc herniation evidenced by the MRI, as well as the profound changes evidenced in the EMG or electrodiagnostic studies.
  

           With regard to Dr. Seres report, Dr. Levine noted that the employee’s obvious shoulder atrophy was missed by Dr. Sere’s examination.
 Dr. Levine pointed out that his observation of the employee’s reduction in cervical mobility was borne out by the observation of the physical therapist who was seeing the employee at the time, Luci Bennett.
 Dr. Levine took exception to Dr. Seres minimizing his findings in treating the employee.
  Dr. Levine also felt that the EMG testing showed more than just problems with the suprascapular nerve because of changes associated with the deltoid and bicep which suggested a root level region C5 or C6 problem.
 He also explained that the remodeling seen in the employee’s biceps and deltoid is not explainable by a suprascapular injury.
  Dr. Levine also noted that a suprascapular injury would not explain the elbow flexion weakness, the neck pain or referral to the shoulder which the employee was experiencing.
 In commenting on the employee’s condition, Dr. Levine stated:

            The fact remains that Dr. Wolf is an operating periodontist and requires exquisite fine motor control, ability to move his cervical spine and requires external rotation strength about his dominant right shoulder in order to perform his tasks.  This obviously is no longer fully present and it is my firm and unwavering opinion that Dr. Wolf cannot do this any longer without placing himself and others at further risk, as I have stated before.  In trying to sustain the strength, Dr. Wolf begins having a tremor and has significant loss of control about the right shoulder girdle in doing the fine work he was doing previously.

            With regard to Dr. Wilson’s report, Dr. Levine again noted that Dr. Wilson did not observe the muscle atrophy or “wasting”.  Dr. Levine also believes Dr. Wilson overlooked the employee’s marked weakness to external rotation.
  He also noted that the motor vehicle accident was not the cause of the employee’s current condition as the employee did not have findings showing serious physical changes in his neck and shoulder until April 1999.

2.  Timothy Cohen, M.D.

          Timothy Cohen, M.D., the neurosurgeon who operated on the employee, provided testimony through his deposition.  On April 12, 1999, after having Dr. Levine refer the employee to him, he performed a “…C5 corpectomy, which includes C4-5, C5-6 diskectomies and a C4-6 fusion.”
  He performed the surgery after having found that the employee was suffering from weakness in the right deltoid muscles, triceps, supra and infraspinatus muscles.  He had an irregular EMG.  He also had neck pain.  These are findings which occur with disk herniation which was also suggested by the MRI along with degenerative disc disease.
  There was also evidence of nerve root compression.
 He performed the neck surgery first as the deltoid problem did not suggest the cxistence of suprascapular nerve entrapment.
     After the surgery, the employee’s neck and shoulder pain resolved.
  Dr. Cohen asserted that it is recommended practice to examine MRI’s and that it is a poor practice not to review them.
  He considered the neck surgery for the employee to be reasonable and necessary.   He opined that working as a periodontist and staying in awkward positions for extensive periods of time would aggravate, accelerate or worsen the employee’s neck condition and his degenerative disk disease.
 He noted that the employee’s symptoms were on his right side which was consistent with his work postures having aggravated and worsened his condition.
  With regard to the suprascapular release surgery which was done on October 6, 1999, Dr. Cohen found that although the employee’s neck surgery resulted in improvement in his condition, his supra and infraspinatus muscle function was not better.
  Dr. Cohen noted the presence of this problem when he first examined the employee.  He diagnosed the condition as suprascapular nerve entrapment.  This condition is characterized by weakness in the supraspinatus and infraspinatus and pain over the posterior lateral shoulder.
  After the suprascapular nerve release surgery, the employee had some improvement but not as much as from his neck surgery.
 Dr. Cohen did not believe the employee’s condition resulted from disuse but rather C5 radiculopathy which is suggested by neck pain, shoulder pain, deltoid weakness and an MRI showing problems with the right C4-5 disc.
  Dr. Cohen opined that the employee’s condition involved degenerative disease of the spine at three levels which was exacerbated by the motor vehicle crash and neck and arm pain as a result of putting his neck in an awkward position in the work place.
    He felt the motor vehicle accident set events in play “…and his work activities, with regard to the cervical spine, worsened the problem or exacerbated the problem.”
  He believed the employee’s work aggravated, accelerated or worsened the employee’s condition.
 The employee’s work actually caused damage as well as pain.
  He did not believe the suprascapular surgery should have been done before the neck surgery.
 He noted that the C5 nerve feeds both the deltoid muscles and the suprascapular and infraspinatus.  He acknowledged that injury to the C5 nerve root can make suprascapular neuropathy worse.
  He also disagreed with the notion that the neck surgery should have been done at the time of the motor vehicle accident as the employee was not demonstrating signs such as pain and deltoid weakness at that point which would have made surgery a valid consideration.
 He opined that the employee’s shoulder weakness came on after the motor vehicle accident.
 All of the problems the employee experienced cannot be ascribed to the auto accident, according to Dr. Cohen, because it was only after a period of time with continuing work activities that the employee’s condition got to the point where it required surgery.

3.     Joseph Macy, D.M.D.

            Dr. Macy is a prosthodontist in Anchorage.  His practice includes restoring teeth with implants.
  He witnessed  the employee  doing periodontal surgery before and after his April 1999 surgery.  He described the surgeries being performed by the employee as being lengthy and demanding in terms of skill and expertise.  He notes that it is common in the field of dentistry for practitioners to experience neck problems due to postural requirements.
  He described the employee as “world class” in terms of his periodontal skills.  After the surgery, he noted the employee’s tremors and deterioration in terms of his inability to perform surgical procedures he had readily accomplished prior to the April 1999 neck surgery.
 

4.     John   Shannon, Jr., D.C.

          Dr. Shannon testified on behalf of the employee as a chiropractic physician who reviewed and consulted with Dr. Levine regarding the employee’s condition. He specializes in chiropractic neurology.
 His report, dated March 5, 2002, reviewed the employee’s medical history.  He also reviewed the employee’s MRI’s and EMG’s.  His review of the April 9, 1999 EMG shows that nerve damage occurred in the three to four weeks prior to the test.  Consequently, it is not related to the 1996 motor vehicle accident.
  He also conducted a physician examination.  He concluded that the employee suffered from status post cervical fusion (C4, 5 and 6), cervical radiculitis and continued disuse atrophy of the right shoulder girdle (specifically supraspinatus, infraspinatus, medial deltoid and possibly biceps).  In addressing the causes of the employee’s condition, he stated: “After reviewing literally several hundred pages of documentation, going over the patient’s history, prior traumatic injury, namely his MVA of 9/16/96, his work history and work ergonomics, I can find no other causal relationship for his disc herniation and suprascapular nerve entrapment other than his occupation as a periodontal surgeon.”

          He testified at the hearing that dentists have a greater susceptibility to neck problems.  This is also by their working in inflexible positions.
  He challenged Dr. Spindle’s position that the employee’s condition was not aggravated by work.  He based his opinion on the EMG studies which showed the occurrence of acute nerve damage.
  He also reviewed the report of Drs. Laycoe and disagreed with the conclusion that the employee suffered from suprascapular neuropathy which should have been address first.  

B.  Employer’s Medical Experts

1. Joel Seres, M.D.

                     Joel  Seres, M.D., physician and neurosurgeon, evaluated the employee and his medical records at the request of Fireman’s Fund.
  His conclusions are different from those of Drs. Laycoe, Robinson and Fechtel, the experts who appeared for CNA. His views also differed from those of the SIME, Dr. Spindle.  Dr. Seres concluded that the employee had suprascapular nerve entrapment syndrome and degenerative cervical spine changes.
  He found no evidence of C5 or C6 radiculopathy.  He found no evidence of a cervical nerve entrapment syndrome.
 He finds no evidence that the posturing requirements of periodontal surgery accelerated or worsened his condition or caused the need for surgery.
 He opined that work was aggravating the employee’s symptoms, not his underlying condition.
   He believed no medical treatment was required for the employee’s flare-ups and pain. He felt the employee’s condition could be improved through a vigorous active exercise program. He believed that the employee did not need surgery and that he could go back to work.

          Dr. Seres has not practiced as a neurosurgeon since 1980.
 He is not Board certified in electromyography.
    He believed suprascapular nerve problems could occur for no apparent reason.
 He has not performed the procedures Dr. Cohen performs.  He did not look at the employee’s MRI’s for October 6, 1998 and April 9, 1999.
   He did not note that the April 9, 1999 MRI showed a cervical herniation.
  He also did not obtain a consult on the employee’s EMG findings.
  He did not note the employee’s arm tremor.    He did not believe the employee’s physical problems were related to any C5 radiculopathy.
 He does not believe that the employee’s postural requirements associated with work accelerated or worsened his condition or caused the need for surgery.
  

         2.  Bryan Laycoe, M.D.  

                    Dr. Laycoe is an orthopedic surgeon.  He along with James Robinson, M.D., a physiatrist and psychologist and Scott Fechtel, D.C., M.D., a specialist in chiropractic orthopedics and medical neurology, saw the employee as part of the panel requested by CNA.  In the course of performing the evaluation, Dr. Laycoe did not review the employee’s two  MRI’s done before the surgery.
  The panel concluded that the employee’s condition was not neck related but rather was the result of a supraspinatus nerve condition.
 Dr. Laycoe found the employee to have a DRE Category II for the cervical spine which is associated with 5% whole person impairment.
 The final page of their report indicates that the employee should not return to work as a periodontal surgeon. The report also concluded that the employee’s work activities did not contribute to his dramatic change in clinical status around mid March 1999.

                   On cross examination, Dr. Laycoe indicated that he does not treat necks.
He also did not review the employee’s MRI’s.
 He did not evaluate the need for neck surgery.
 He believed that the changes in the employee’s neck were due to degeneration.

          3.  Scott G. Fechtel, D.C., M.D. 

                  Dr. Fechtel, a specialist in chiropractic orthopedics and medical neurology, was part of the panel that evaluated the employee on behalf of CNA.  

          4.    James   Robinson, M.D.

                   He performed a psychological evaluation of the employee.  He did not find any diagnosable psychopathology.

          5.   Allan Wilson, M.D.

             Dr. Wilson, an orthopedic surgeon with Medical Consultants Network in Seattle, saw the employee on July 7, 2000 in connection with the employee’s lawsuit against Kemper Insurance.
  He noted that there were concerns about the employee’s shoulder pain and that electrodiagnostic records, namely EMG’s, showed changes suggesting denervation of the supraspinatus and infraspinatus muscles.
 He diagnosed “status post C4 to C7 fusion for cervical degenerative disc disease and status post suprascapular nerve release, details unknown.”
 He gave the employee a 10% PPI rating and concluded that he found nothing in the examination that would keep the employee from working as a periodontist.  It was his opinion that the auto accident led to the surgery.
  

            6.   David Spindle, M.D.  

                 David Spindle, M.D., a retired neurosurgeon, performed the SIME on September 5, 2002.  He reviewed the employee’s medical records and performed a physical examination.  In his report of October 8, 2002, he concluded that the employee was suffering from C4/C5 disc rupture in the myotone.
  He felt the employee needed surgery before 1999.
  He addressed the issue of causation but not whether work aggravated, accelerated or worsened the employee’s condition.   He concluded that none of the employee’s work “…is a substantial factor whatsoever in him not being able to return to work.”
   

C.  Intervenor’s Witness

                 Intervenor’s witness Valerie Brown testified by deposition.  She is an employee of Health Care Recoveries.  Her title is senior examiner.
 Health Care Recoveries investigates possible recovery from third party sources on behalf of insurance companies, including Principal, the employee’s private health insurance company.  Principal has paid $37,663.25 in medical expenses for the employee.
 These expenses were incurred from March 17, 1999 to November 9, 2002.
   It seeks reimbursement from the responsible carrier if the employee’s injury is determined to be work related.    

III.  ARGUMENTS OF THE PARTIES
A.  FIREMAN’S FUND

          Fireman’s Fund began providing coverage for the employee March 1, 1999.  The employer claims that the employee was snow machining for five days before he awoke one morning in severe pain.  The insurer claims that while work may have caused flare ups in the employee’s condition, it was not a substantial factor in bringing about his permanent disability or need for medical treatment according to Drs. Seres and Laycoe.  Fireman’s Fund also cites Dr. Spindle’s view that “it tortures the mind that any of the employee’s activities after his auto accident would contribute to the rupture of the disk.”
  The insurer also cites Dr. Wilson’s finding that the employee’s condition was attributable to the auto accident.  The insurer claims that the employee has experienced temporary flare-ups only.

          Fireman’s Fund also cites the Sjolie
 case, which it claims supports its position that the Board has not found work related aggravation of the employee’s preexisting neck condition compensable.  The employee in Sjolie worked as a charge nurse for the employer and claimed that her postural position aggravated her degenerative disc in her neck.  The Board denied the claim, finding that at the third stage of the presumption analysis, the employee failed to establish her claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  The Board found that the employee’s work activities (working at a computer and engaging in prolonged clerical functions) did not cause her injury.  Every doctor who reviewed her case stated that her work activities did not cause disc herniation. 


         Also cited in support of the employer’s case by Fireman’s Fund was Ritter v.Cimarron Holdings.
  Here, the employee had a history of a C5-6 and C6-7 fusion.  While working after this surgery, he turned his neck which caused spinal stenosis.  The Board held he had not established a compensable claim as the twisting incident was not shown to be a substantial factor in aggravating his pre-existing condition.
  The superior court reversed the decision and subsequently, the Alaska Supreme Court affirmed the Board for the reasons expressed in the Board’s decision.
 This case involved a worsening of symptoms after neck surgery.  It also involved a single action by the employee.

         Fireman’s Fund also cites Robinson v. Municipality of Anchorage
in support of its argument that the employee is not credible as he claimed his auto injury was the cause of his neck condition in his third party litigation and then changed his position the claim that work caused his workers’ compensation injury and disability.  In Robinson, the Board held that the employee’s representations about his disability status in his third party lawsuit were inconsistent with what he said on his workers’ compensation claim and this undermined his credibility.
  
           Fireman’s Fund also cites the Brewster v. Davidson & Davidson
 in support of 

denial of an employee neck claim.  In this case, the employee was a paralegal whose work did not require her to keep her neck in a fixed static position.
  Consequently, no aggravation, acceleration or combination was found which would cause a compensable disability.

B.  CNA/NORTHERN ADJUSTERS

          CNA asserts that the employee’s claim before the Board is inconsistent with his contentions in the third party lawsuits which he filed in connection with the 1996 motor vehicle accident.
  CNA claims that the employee did not follow up with treatment from 1996 until 1998.  CNA also contends that the employee began experiencing neck symptoms in the fall of 1997 so he failed to give timely notice under AS 23.30.100.  CNA also maintains that the employee’s work has not aggravated his cervical spine condition or his suprascapular nerve condition.
  CNA also maintains that since the employee never filed any report of injury against CNA, the claim is barred under AS 23.30.100.  CNA also claims that the employee is not entitled to the presumption of compensability under AS 23.30.239.   CNA contends that if the date of injury was March 16, 1999, it occurred after CNA coverage ended February 28, 1999.
 

C.  HEALTH CARE RECOVERIES, INC. THE PRINCIPAL LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY

          Health Care Recoveries, acting as an agent for the employee’s private medical insurance carrier, Principal, asserts that it is entitled to recover based on its lien for $37,663.25 in medical expenses it has paid for the employee.  It bases this lien on the claim that the employee’s medical expenses occurred as a result of a work-related injury.

D.  EMPLOYEE

           The employee asserts that he had an auto accident in 1996 which resulted in a neck injury which was then aggravated by his continuing to work in a strained posture for the following years, culminating in a disability and inability to return to full time work after March 16, 1999.  The employee asserts that there is no double recovery issue and the employers are not entitled to offsets from settlements received by the employee under AS 23.30.015 or the Langill decision.
  The employee asserts he has not told differing accounts as to causation of his condition in different forums.  Rather, he claims that the accident started the process by injuring his neck which was then aggravated and worsened by the posturing demands required by his work.  He maintains he did try to explore ergonomic solutions when he was experiencing a worsening of his neck condition but these were only partially successful.  Finally, the employee maintains that he filed a report of injury in April 1999 within 30 days of his last injurious exposure under AS 23.30.100 when he became aware that his employment aggravated, accelerated and worsened his underlying neck condition to the point that he needed surgery and incurred a compensable disability.  He asserts his claim which was filed March 1, 2001 was also timely under AS 23.30.105. Finally, he asserts that he is entitled to $24,112 in out of pocket medical expenses from April 9, 1999 forward, TTD from April 12 to July 17, 1999, and TPD from July 17, 1999 to March 13, 2000.


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
I. BURDEN OF PROOF

We begin our analysis of this case by noting that the employee is the owner  of Wolf Dental Services, Inc.  He is not entitled to the presumption of compensability under AS 23.30.120.  Pursuant to AS 23.30.239, we find that the employee bears the burden of proof regarding the validity of his claim and he must establish the claim by a preponderance of the evidence.

           II.  LATE FILED CLAIM  

           CNA contends that the employee has no claim against it as the specific injurious event, i.e. the onset of pain on March 16, 1999, occurred after CNA’s coverage terminated.

In view of our decision under the last injurious exposure rule, we are not compelled to address the merits of this argument as the notice of the claim was timely as against Fireman’s Fund. 

             However,  AS 23.30.105 provides, in part:

(a) The right to compensation for disability under this chapter is barred unless a claim for it is filed within two years after the employee has knowledge of the nature of the employee’s disability and its relation to the employment and after disablement.           

Under AS 23.30.105, the notice requirement begins to run when an employee could reasonably have known work was aggravating his condition.  The employee gave testimony in this case that he never had a pain free day after the auto accident.  He also complained about pain in 1997.  However, his testimony indicates that notwithstanding the pain, he continued to work as no physician told him not to.   We find he did not know that he was experiencing other than flare-ups of pain until the major decline occurred in his condition in March 1999 which required surgery on April 12, 1999.
  Under these circumstances, his report of occupational illness or injury, dated April 12, 1999, is timely.  While he was in pain and continuing to work, he was not aware of the full impact of his work on his condition until his sudden decline in March 1999 which led to surgery April 12, 1999.

                     It is not clear whether  CNA is asserting that the claim when filed March 1, 2001 was untimely.  However, for purposes of this order, the Board concludes that the report of injury filed April 12, 1999 gave notice to Fireman’s Fund of the injury in a timely manner under AS 23.30.100 which requires that notice of the injury be given within 30 days of the injury.  Under AS 23.30.105, the filing of the claim on March 1, 2001 was within two years of the employee’s having knowledge of the nature of his disability.  Therefore, for purposes of both the report of injury and the claim, we find they are timely under AS 23.30.100 and AS 23.30.105 respectively.

             III.  LIABILITY UNDER THE LAST INJURIOUS RULE
                             The last injurious exposure rule was adopted by the Alaska Supreme Court in Ketchikan Gateway Borough v. Saling.
  The rule applies when employment with successive employers may contribute to an employee’s disability.
  This rule imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury that bears a causal relation to the disability.
   Saling, like the employee in this case, suffered from a degenerative condition which was aggravated by work and work related injuries.  The Saling court points 

                   out that the employee’s situation is analogous to aggravation of a preexisting non-work-related condition.  In that situation, the Court has consistently held the employer liable for the employee’s entire disability.
   

          In Peek v. Alaska Pacific Insurance,
  the Court stated:


                     [Two] determinations…must be made under this rule: “(1) whether                      employment with the subsequent employer ‘aggravated, accelerated, or                     combined with a pre-existing condition; and, if so, (2) whether the aggravation, acceleration or combination was a ‘legal cause’ of the disability, i.e.,‘a substantial factor in bringing about the harm” (quoting Saling, 604 P.2d at 597, 598).

         An aggravation, acceleration or combination is a substantial factor in the disability if it is shown that (1) “but for” the subsequent employment the disability would not have occurred, and (2) the subsequent employment was so important in bringing about the disability that a reasonable person would regard it as a cause and attach responsibility to it.

                   In Peek v. Alaska Pacific Insurance,
  the Court stated:


                     [Two] determinations…must be made under this rule: “(1) whether                      employment with the subsequent employer ‘aggravated, accelerated, or                     combined with a pre-existing condition; and, if so, (2) whether the aggravation, acceleration or combination was a ‘legal cause’ of the disability, i.e.,‘a substantial factor in bringing about the harm” (quoting Saling, 604 P.2d at 597, 598).

         An aggravation, acceleration or combination is a substantial factor in the disability if it is shown that (1) “but for” the subsequent employment the disability would not have occurred, and (2) the subsequent employment was so important in bringing about the disability that a reasonable person would regard it as a cause and attach responsibility to it.

The Court expressly adopted the “but for” test in a last injurious rule context in Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 757 P.2d 528, 533 (Alaska 1987).  The Court noted that the purpose of the last injurious exposure rule “…is to provide injured workers with a simple, speedy remedy whereby they may be compensated for losses occasioned by work related injuries.”

                   “The question of whether the employment aggravated or accelerated a pre-existing disease or injury is one of fact to be determined by the Board and it is not the function of the court to reweigh the evidence or choose between competing inferences.”
  “As we pointed out in Saling, under the ‘last injurious exposure’ rule, an employee need not show that employment with the last employer was the legal cause of disability, only a legal cause of the disability.”

           Under the last injurious exposure rule, the focus of our inquiry is “the employer at the time of the most recent injury that bears a causal relation to the disability.”
  In our analysis, we apply the preponderance of the evidence standard pursuant to AS 23.30.239(c), which requires that a sole proprietor bear the burden of proof of the validity of the claim.  To meet the preponderance of the evidence standard, one “…must induce a belief in the minds of the jurors that the asserted facts are probably true.”

            Applying these provisions to the instant case, we find that the employee has established his claim by a preponderance of the evidence against Fireman’s Fund as the last employer.
  The Board finds that the employee’s neck and shoulder conditions are work related on a more probable than not basis. The Board finds that the employee’s work was a substantial factor in aggravating, accelerating and worsening the employee’s neck and shoulder conditions which ultimately resulted in his requiring surgery in April and October of 1999 and not being able to return to work on a full time basis.  The Board finds that the employee’s auto accident in 1996 set in motion the employee’s cervical injury which was then aggravated and worsened by the employee’s flexion, rotation and extension at work.
 In reaching this conclusion, we rely for guidance on the Alaska Supreme Court’s decision in Tolbert v. Alascom
 in which the Court states regarding an injury aggravated by work:

                        If one or more possible causes of a disability are [work-related], benefits will be awarded where the record establishes that the [work-related] injury is a substantial factor in the employee’s disability regardless of whether a [non-work-related] injury could independently have caused disability.

We believe the employee’s evidence overwhelmingly outweighs the carrier evidence.  The evidence presented by Dr. Wolf, Dr. Levine, Dr. Cohen, Dr. Shannon and Dr. Macy as well as the evidence presented by Mr. DeCarlo, and the Mayo Clinic records also support the employee’s position that work during Fireman’s Fund’s coverage was a substantial factor in aggravating his neck and supraspatinus shoulder conditions.
  We give particular weight to the aggravation of the employee’s condition as evidenced by the comparison of the October 6, 1998 cervical MRI with the April 9, 1999 cervical MRI.  We find that the reports and testimony of the employee, Dr. Levine, Dr. Cohen, Dr. Macy, and Dr. Shannon to be credible.
  We considered Dr. Shannon to be credible when he offered testimony that his EMG study of March 16, 1999 showed no acute injury, but nerve damage was evidenced in the April 1999 EMG study. We believe both the MRI’s and the EMG’s are given considerable weight by the Board as they reflect a higher order of objective measures of the employee’s deterioration.  We accord substantial weight to the testing.

            We believe that the employee is credible when he explained that he continued his exercise regime after the motor vehicle accident after no doctor told him not to do so.  He visited the Mayo Clinic in an effort to determine whether there were other steps he should be taking and to confirm his current approach to his neck problem.  He also pursued an ergonomic evaluation and purchased equipment which might allow him to perform his activities in a manner alleviating physical stress.  On these bases, we find that the employee actually sought out alternatives which might improve his ability to deal with his condition or at least to confirm he was on the right track with what he was doing.  As he stated, “No doctor ever told me not to work.”  
            With respect to allegations that the employee took different positions in the third party lawsuits versus what he stated in connection with his workers’ compensation claim, we find that he is credible in that during the time after the 1996 auto accident, the focus was on his auto neck injury.  It was only with the passage of years and the posturing requirements and repetitive nature of his work that his work aggravated his preexisting condition leading to his disability in March 1999.  The statements he made were not conflicting.  Rather, we find they represented the growing recognition of the impact of his work on his neck and shoulder condition which evolved during the years after 1996.


          We find Dr. Levine to be particularly credible with respect to his comments about diagnosing and treating the employee’s conditions.  He is Board certified in EMG testing.  He has also served as a Board SIME.   He saw the employee during the progression of his conditions.  He is the only physician in this case to take the time to familiarize himself with the employee’s posturing activities through direct observation.  He also had the further advantage of seeing the employee frequently as opposed to on just a single occasion.

           We also find Dr. Cohen to be credible, particularly his view that the employee’s flexion and extension would worsen or accelerate underlying conditions such as degenerative disc disease and a preexisting neck injury.
  We agree with his opinion that the auto crash put the events in play and the employee’s work activities aggravated and exacerbated the condition.

           With regard to Dr. Wilson’s report, we adopt Dr. Levine’s view that Dr. Wilson overlooked the employee’s significant muscle atrophy or “wasting” as well as overlooking the employee’s marked weakness to external rotation.  For these reasons, we give little weight to Dr. Wilson’s report.

          With respect to Dr. Laycoe’s report, we find that it is not entitled to great weight given the failure to review the employee’s MRI’s.  Dr. Laycoe also does not treat necks.  He also did not thoroughly evaluate the need for neck surgery. Instead, he focused on the employee’s shoulder condition.  He also did not believe there was an interrelationship between maintaining an awkward posture and aggravating a disc condition.  As we adopt the opinions of Dr. Levine and Cohen, and particularly their opinion of the relationship between the employee’s postures at work and the aggravation and worsening of his condition, we reject Dr. Laycoe’s view that there is no relationship between the employee’s work and his subsequent injury and disability. 

           With respect to Dr. Seres’ report, we find that it lacks credibility as he did not review all the employee’s MRI’s.  We adopt Dr. Cohen’s view that failure to review all the patient’s MRI’s is a poor practice because the MRI contains significant information regarding the patient’s condition.
   There are other problems with his report.  He did not note the employee’s atrophy.  He believes that posturing has no impact in worsening the employee’s condition, and we reject this position.     He claims that the employee did not need surgery and can work as a periodontist.  We also reject these conclusions.  We adopt the findings of Drs. Levine and Cohen that the employee’s condition was related to the C5 nerve root.

          With respect to Dr. Spindle’s report, we accept the testimony of Dr. Shannon.    He also reviewed Dr. Spindle’s report but disagrees with Dr. Spindle that the 1999 nerve damage was the product of the 1996 motor vehicle accident.  Based on the medical information available at the time of the employee’s 1996 auto accident, the employee did not require medical surgery. As Dr. Cohen stated, there were not findings of weakness in the deltoid, bicep and tricep along with pain that would be indicators of the need for surgery.
  Based on our review of the medical information available after the employee’s 1996 accident, we concur that the employee did not need surgery at that time.  For this reason, we give little weight to Dr. Spindle’s report.  We agree with Dr. Levine’s November 19, 2002 letter and reject Dr. Spindle’s conclusion that the employee’s work is not related to his neck and shoulder conditions.  We also agree with Dr. Cohen’s comments about the importance of looking at the MRI’s and EMG data and weakness in the deltoid, bicep and tricep muscles in determining whether surgery is indicated.

            With regard to the cases cited by Fireman’s Fund, we find them to be factually distinguishable and not controlling in terms of the outcome in this case.  In the Sjolie case, the employee was working at a computer and performing work in a clerical capacity which are different activities from the employee in this case, who performed surgeries which required him to be in awkward positions for long periods of time.  The employee in Sjolie could take breaks and vary positions whereas the employee in this case could not.  Finally, none of the doctors who reviewed the employee’s work situation in Sjolie linked it with her disc herniations.  In the instant case, Drs. Levine, Cohen and Shannon all link the employee’s work with his disability.  Therefore, Sjolie is not dispositive as to the outcome in this case.

          With regard to the Ritter case, we believe the facts are very different from the instant case.
   The employee in Ritter had a neck fusion and then a subsequent injury brought on by a single action of turning his head by the employee.  These facts contrast significantly with the instant case where the employee had a neck injury from his auto accident and then his conditions were aggravated by the employee engaging in postures which had to be maintained during surgeries and for long periods of time over several years and for at least five days a week.

          Fireman’s Fund also cites Robinson v. Municipality of Anchorage in support of its argument that the employee is not credible as he claimed the auto injury was what brought on his problems in one forum and them claimed, later, that work was what brought about his disability in the workers’ compensation setting.  We find that Robinson is not relevant to the instant case as the employee in this case has sufficiently explained any differences in explanations as to the causes of his neck and shoulder problems.

          With respect to the Brewster case, we find that it is factually distinguishable from the case at hand.  In Brewster, the employee was a paralegal who was not required to keep her neck in a static position. In contrast, in the instant case, the employee had to keep his position for long periods of time thus causing aggravation to his prior neck injury.  Based on this factual distinction, we find the Brewster case unpersuasive.

            Finally, with regard to the dissent, the majority believes that the dissent’s theories do not give proper weight to the precedents which the Board looks to in evaluating causation issues, particularly the Tolbert and De Yonge cases.  We believe that these precedents require us to find a compensable claim where work is a factor in aggravating or worsening a preexisting condition.  We do not rely on “proximate cause” as this is a tort concept not applied in workers’ compensation law, except in AS 23.30.235.  

            We also disagree with the dissent that the employee had two distinguishable conditions affecting his neck and shoulder.  We believe that the record shows the neck problems were aggravated and worsened by the employee’s posturing requirements of his work.  When the neck fusion was performed and the employee’s conditions were not totally alleviated, the shoulder release surgery was done to further address his physical problems.  The work related conditions brought about neck and shoulder problems related to the C5 nerve root.  There were not two separate conditions, rather one condition with neck and shoulder components.  We find that based on the employee’s testimony, when his condition greatly deteriorated in March 1999, he went from experiencing “flare-up’s” to a dramatically deteriorating condition which led to surgeries and inability to work.  

             With respect to the employee’s exploring ergonomic solutions, we do not believe he chose to disregard reasonable measures to mitigate his ongoing neck pain.  Instead, we find that the employee explored ergonomic solutions but the posturing requirements did not readily lend themselves to easy ergonomic solutions.   The employee needed to have direct vision to perform periodontic surgery which involved maintaining a posture of looking downward and back into patient’s mouths for long periods of time.  In essence, the recommended ergonomic solutions were only partially successful in alleviating the postural demands and reducing strain on the employee’s neck, back and shoulders.  

             The dissent asserts that the employee has failed to show economic losses.  We disagree and find that economic losses have been established through testimony and including such exhibits as Exhibit 1, which is the summary of hours worked, production and expenses from April 12, 1999 to March 13, 2000 the time of the PPI rating.  We believe going from $6,631.00 per week to less than $4,474.00 after the injury represents a severe economic loss.

             Finally, the dissent makes a distinction between static posturing of job activities versus repetitive flexion and extension of the neck.  Based on the preponderance of the evidence in the record, we find that regardless of what it is called, the posturing demands of the employee’s work plus the long hours he kept himself in the “vulture” position, combined to aggravate and worsen his preexisting condition and to ultimately lead to his inability to work.  We find the  impact of any of his non work activities in aggravating his condition was minimal.  To find the claim noncompensable is to ignore the overwhelming evidence in this case.

              IV.  MEDICAL BENEFITS
              AS 23.30.095(a) provides, in part:

                    The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period  which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee.

                     …if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured has the right to review by the Board.  The Board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require.

              Based on the preponderance of the evidence in the record, especially on the  testimony of Dr. Levine and Dr. Cohen, we find the employee’s April 12, 1999 neck surgery and treatment was reasonable and necessary.  We further find that the subsequent October 6, 1999 surgery and treatment of the employee’s supraspinatus shoulder condition was reasonable and necessary. Fireman’s Fund is directed to reimburse the employee for out of pocket medical expenses of $24,112.00.  We further find that the employee is entitled to continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require.

             V.  INTERVENOR’S  REIMBURSEMENT
                   We find that pursuant to AS 23.30.095, the employee incurred and will incur medical expenses which are compensable.  We find Fireman’s Fund responsible for the employee’s medical expenses paid by Principal in the amount of $37,663.00.    We retain jurisdiction over this issue in the event the parties are unable to resolve any disputed outstanding costs or benefits.

             VI.  EMPLOYEE’S THIRD PARTY SETTLEMENTS

                    Although much was made of the employee’s settlements from third parties in this case, we find that these settlements do not impact the employee’s status as an injured worker under the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act.  The funds which the employee received for settlement purposes from the third party driver’s policy do not overlap what he would be entitled to under the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act.  The employee received settlement funds of approximately $90,000 and $800,000.  These were to compensate him for time loss and $10,000 in medical bills prior to March 16, 1999. We find the aggravation of the employee’s conditions following March 19, 1999 was a separate injury.  The carrier cannot offset any funds from the first injury against benefits owed after March 16, 1999.

            The employee also received funds from the uninsured motorist policy and his disability policy.  The Board does not believe the carriers are entitled to any offset for these amounts.  The Board addressed this issue in Langill v. Great Alaska Lawn and Landscaping.
  In this case, the Board denied the employee benefits requiring offset for funds received from uninsured motorist coverage involving his industrial related motor vehicle accident.  On appeal, the Superior Court reversed the Board’s ruling noting that AS 23.30.015(g) only allows the carrier offsets against third party tortfeasors.
   Applying this precedent to the case at hand, we find that the employer is not entitled to any offset as a result of settlements from uninsured motorist coverage.  We agree that the employee has only recovered for conditions related to the auto accident, not for conditions related to his work-related aggravation.  No offsets are allowed from the employee’s private disability insurance.

              VII.  TEMPORARY TOTAL DISABILITY
                  AS 23.30.185 provides:

                     In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee’s spendable weekly wages shall be paid during the continuance of the disability.  Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

                    Dr. Cohen stated he could not work because of the injury.
 The Board finds the employee is eligible for TTD for the period from April 12, 1999 to July 17, 1999.  Based on the preponderance of the medical evidence, we find the employee was unable to work during this period because of the work injury.  The employee is entitled to TTD from April 12, 1999 through July 17, 1999.

              VIII.  TEMPORARY PARTIAL  DISABILITY
                   AS 23.30.200 provides that in case of temporary partial disability resulting in decrease of earning capacity the compensation shall be 80 percent of the difference between the injured employee’s spendable weekly wages before the injury and the wage earning capacity of the employee after the injury in the same or other employment.  TPD cannot be paid after the date of medical stability.  The Board is required to consider reductions in earning capacity.
  In Karkanen v. Perini Arctic Assocs.,
 the Alaska Supreme Court remanded the case back to the Board where the Board failed to make adequate findings as to the employee’s loss of earning capacity.

                    The employee’s average weekly wage figures are included in the record through the employee’s testimony and Exhibit 1. We find the employee’s weekly net income went from $6,631.00 to a minus $4,474.00.  We find the employee is entitled to TPD from July 17, 1999 to March 13, 2000 when the employee received his PPI rating. The parties are directed to determine the appropiate compensation rate.  We will retain jurisdiction to resolve any disputes should they arise.     

             IX.  PERMANENT PARTIAL IMPAIRMENT
                    AS 23.30.190(a) provides, in part:

                        In case of impairment partial in character but permanent in quality, and not resulting in permanent total disability, the compensation rate is $177,000 multiplied by the employee’s percentage of permanent impairment of the whole person.  

                       On March 13, 2000, Dr. Levine found that the employee had a 20% permanent partial impairment.  At the time of the rating, Dr. Levine noted the following problems:

1. cervical strain, whiplash syndrome, with disc herniation and cervical radiculopathy;

2. status post decompressive cervical spine surgery based on cervical radiculopathy;

3. suprascapular nerve impingement, status post decompression; and

4. severe atrophy in C5/C6 suprascapular nerve distribution with marked atrophy.

We find the preponderance of the evidence in the record supports the conclusion that work aggravated the employee’s preexisting condition.  The record supports Dr. Levine’s rating and the employee is entitled to compensation on this basis.  

             X.  REEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

                      The record does not contain sufficient evidence to determine whether the employee is eligible for reemployment benefits. AS 23.30.041© requires the RBA to make eligibility determinations. We will refer the employee to the RBA for an eligibility determination.

             XI.  ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS
               AS 23.30.145(a) provides, in part:

                     Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the Board, and the fees may not be less than 25 per cent of the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1000 of compensation, and 10 percent in excess of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation.

             The employee claims statutory attorney fees in this case.  The employee also claims $9,621.86 in legal costs under AS 23.30.145.
  The Alaska Supreme Court has held that attorneys in compensation proceedings should be reasonably compensated for services rendered to a compensation claimant, taking into account the character, amount and complexity of the legal services rendered.

                In this case, the employer controverted the employee’s claim and the employee retained an attorney who successfully prosecuted his claim for benefits.  We find that this case was complex in terms of the nature of the evidence presented and the services performed.  We believe it resulted in significant benefits to the employee.  The employer’s counsel were skilled and effective advocates.  We find that the employee’s counsel provided significant legal benefit for his client.  Under these circumstances, we will order that minimum attorney’s fees and costs be paid pursuant to AS 23.30.145.     


ORDER

1.  The employee’s claim is timely pursuant to AS 23.30.105(a) as it was filed within 30 days of the employee becoming aware that his employment aggravated and worsened his neck condition.           


2.      Fireman’s Fund is liable for all benefits due to the employee after March 1, 1999  under the last injurious exposure rule.



3.     The employee is entitled to medical benefits and related transportation costs from Fireman’s Fund under AS 23.30.095. Fireman’s Fund is to reimburse the employee’s out of pocket medical expenses of $24,112.00 incurred since April 1999 and to reimburse Principal $37,663.25 for medical expenses.  We retain jurisdiction and direct the parties to notify us if any disputes remain over this issue.


4.        The employee is entitled to temporary partial disability from July 17, 1999  to March 13, 2000 under AS 23.30.200.  We retain jurisdiction and direct the parties to notify us if disputes remain over this issue.

             5.       The employee is entitled to temporary total disability under AS 23.30.185 from April 12,1999 to July 17, 1999.  We retain jurisdiction should the parties not be able to resolve disputes over this issue.


6.     The employee is entitled to permanent partial disability pursuant to AS 23.30.190 based on his March 13, 2000 20 percent PPI rating.  We retain jurisdiction and direct the parties top notify us if any disputes remain over this issue.

7. The matter of the employee’s eligibility for reemployment benefits is referred to the reemployment benefits administrator for determination.

8. Fireman’s Fund shall pay the employee attorney’s fees under AS 23.30.145.  Fireman’s Fund shall pay the employee $9,621.86 in legal costs under AS 23.30.145(b).


Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this     day of November, 2003.





ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD







____________________________                                






Rosemary Foster, Designated Chair

 
                     



____________________________                                
                    




 Royce Rock, Member

Dissent of Board Member Dale Walaszek:
I respectfully dissent with the opinion of the majority.  I find the analysis of causation in this case based on several factors involving both technical legal terms and technical medical science.

Sec. 23.30.239 states in part that a sole proprietor “bears the burden of proof of the validity of the claim.”

As per case law: 

“An aggravation, acceleration or combination is a substantial factor in the disability if it is shown that (1) “but for” the subsequent employment the disability would not have occurred, and (2) the subsequent employment was so important in bringing about the disability that a reasonable person would regard it as a cause and attach responsibility to it.”  Peek v. Alaska Pacific Insurance
Dr. Wolf must bear the burden of proof to establish evidence that "but-for" employment the medical conditions and disability would not have occurred.

Dr. Wolf was involved in a non-work related motor vehicle accident (MVA) on 9/16/96.  Dr. Wolf filed complaints in civil court both before and after his 4/12/99 Workers’ Compensation Report of Injury.  During his 5/17/99 deposition in the MVA litigation, Dr. Wolf stated that the auto accident resulted in:

“extended duration of incredibly sore, painful, stiff neck.  Limited range of motion, having a major impact on my ability to complete my surgical practice.  Pain that would keep me awake, unable to sleep well at night.  I’d say I’ve had herniation of cervical disks in three joints, three cervical joints. Significant muscle pathology.  Muscle spasm.  And finally I’ve had herniation of two disks producing pressure on my right brachial plexus to the point where I was unable to move my right arm, causing atrophy of the muscles in my right shoulder, scapular—super scapular muscles.  My right arm.” 

Dr. Wolf received settlement in both cases regarding this MVA, and these settlements were based on:

“[The auto accident] was the proximate cause of the plaintiff’s injuries.  Plaintiff received injuries to his neck, shoulder, and back.  Plaintiff’s injuries have caused plaintiff to incur past and future medical expenses, past and future lost earning capacity.”

All parties argued the legal definition of “Proximate Cause”.  Dr. Wolf argued the “Proximate Cause” (as documented in the MVA settlement) implies that the MVA was the initial cause in the chain of complex medical events; and “but for” his work as a periodontal surgeon he would not have aggravated, accelerated, or worsened this condition such that surgery was needed and disability occurred.  In the written closing brief, Dr. Wolf’s counsel stated that “Dr. Wolf only recovered [financially] for conditions related to the 1996 [MVA] accident, not his work related aggravation.”  I agree, in part.

The “Employer” (Fireman’s Fund & CNA) argued these claims contradict the MVA settlement, numerous statements by Dr. Wolf, and the medical testimony of Dr. Levine during the 1999 MVA litigation.  These documented statements clearly imply that the medical conditions and need for treatment are a direct result of the automobile accident, not his professional occupation.  The Employer also argued that based on the statements of Dr. Wolf, his numerous physical activities (including activities such as canoeing, cross-country skiing, fly-tying, snow-mobiling, shooting handguns and shotguns, backpacking, reading, “sleeping wrong”, and movie watching) and his work positioning all increased his subjective symptoms of muscular neck pain after the MVA.  The Employer also argues that the medical testimony of the EME’s and the SIME does not support the finding of causation “but for” work as a periodontal surgeon.  I agree, in part.

I find that “Proximate Cause” implies the immediate factors that directly result in the injury. “Proximate Cause” is only applied in Alaska Workers’ Compensation law regarding Sec. 23.30.235, and is not applied in determining causation regarding Dr. Wolf’s case.  Alaska Workers’ Compensation uses the legal term “but for” to establish causation in cases involving a preexisting condition. I find that “but for” implies a necessary cause, otherwise the resulting condition would not have occurred.  Therefore, I find that Dr. Wolf must bear the burden of proof that his work as a periodontal surgeon was the necessary cause (“but for”) which resulted in his need for treatment; and ultimate disability. 

Based on Dr. Wolf’s testimony, he had regular ongoing muscular neck pain since the day of his MVA accident on 9/16/96.  He admits he experienced aggravation of muscular neck pain just tipping his head down to read something, “sleeping wrong”, or simply looking out an airplane window.  Dr. Wolf also admitted aggravation of his muscular neck pain during both exertional and static position leisure activities (fly tying and yoga).  Some of these activities were self-prescribed physical exercises in an effort to improve his muscular neck pain condition.  Dr. Wolf stated that soon after the MVA he also thought that his work in the static periodontal position prevented his recovery.  While he discontinued some of his favorite leisure activities that caused increased symptoms of pain, he continued to perform periodontal work that also caused increased symptoms of pain.  He was under the reasonable assumption, with support of his chosen health care providers, that he would improve and “get through it”.  I find that based on the extensive testimony, all of these activities were partial causes for the aggravation of the muscular neck pain condition.  Dr. Wolf meticulously documented (on a calendar) that one of the more common partial causes of temporary aggravations of the muscular neck pain was his static “vulture” posturing at work.  Dr. Wolf obtained a professional ergonomic evaluation (2/3/99) and purchased expensive ergonomic surgical equipment in an effort to mitigate these aggravations.  Dr. Wolf testified that he felt the equipment hampered his surgical techniques, so he discarded these measures quickly.  I find that Dr. Wolf likely experienced many temporary aggravations of his muscular neck pain condition (pre-existing condition) due to work activities.  I find that these “flare-ups” would be a compensible under the Act, but Dr. Wolf did not clearly prove a loss of income as he continued “working through the pain”.  Treatment for these work-related “flare-ups” (aggravations) would be covered under Workers’ Compensation, but it is not clear at this time what treatment was sought after each aggravation.  It would not be reasonable or possible to apportion out the work-related aggravations from the leisure activity aggravations. 

Dr. Wolf stated that on the morning of 3/14/1999 (Sunday), his right shoulder began bothering him and that it was a “total surprise”.  He clearly stated the symptoms were “different” and much more intense that those he had experienced before.  Dr. Wolf states he initially thought he “must of slept wrong” on it.  Upon questioning from the Board, he stated could not attribute any specific activity (work or non-work) to the “new” and “different” intense pain symptoms. He also stated that he attempted to “keep working right through it” and made a failed attempt at returning to surgical work activities two days later.  Dr. Wolf stated he later realized that the new symptoms were due to his work activities.  At this point in the chronological history of the case, the medical testimony becomes highly technical and hotly debated.  It is clear that Dr. Wolf’s medical condition began to rapidly deteriorate, but the preponderance of the evidence must show that his work activities were a necessary cause for the development of the medical condition.   

Dr. Wolf, nor his physicians, attributed this new and different symptom development as a work-related injury until the day of cervical fusion surgery on 4/10/99. Dr. Wolf’s physician, Dr. Levine, used clinical judgement and initially thought there was possibly a shoulder rotator-cuff tear.  Dr. Wolf’s condition quickly deteriorated and Dr. Levine soon diagnosed a C4/5 disk herniation, and Dr. Cohen (neurosurgeon) agreed and performed a cervical fusion.  Dr. Wolf’s condition only improved in some aspects, Dr. Cohen diagnosed a suprascapular neuropathy, and performed a surgical release.  Both Dr. Levine and Dr. Cohen believe that the condition was due in part to the 1996 MVA, and work activities were a substantial factor that required the treatment and ultimate disability. These opinions are based on the view that the mechanism of injury (static work posturing of a periodontal surgeon) will cause a herniated cervical disc, which can aggravate an underlying suprascapular neuropathy.  

On 6/15/01, upon request of one Employer insurance carrier, an EME was performed by Dr. Seres’ panel of physicians.  Dr. Seres’ opinion was that the condition was suprascapular neuropathy, unrelated to work.  Dr. Seres’ opinion is that Dr. Wolf’s work posturing was not the cause of the suprascapular neuropathy.  Dr. Seres’ also stated that, although he disagrees with the diagnosis, Dr. Wolf’s work posturing would not cause a herniated cervical disc.

Another EME was performed at the request of the second insurance carrier by Dr. Laycoe’s panel of physicians.  Dr. Laycoe’s opinion was also that the condition was suprascapular neuropathy, unrelated to work.  He also stated that Dr. Wolf’s posturing would not cause a herniated cervical disc. 

On 10/8/02, an SIME was performed by Dr. Spindle to assist the board in resolving the disputed medical evidence.  Dr. Spindle concluded that Dr. Wolf’s condition was due to a C4/5 herniated disk, caused by the 1996 MVA. Dr. Spindle did not link Dr. Wolf’s work posturing as a cause for a herniated disc.

Dr. Spindle stated:

“It tortures the mind to feel that any of the subsequent of the activities as a periodonditst contributed in any way for the rupture of the disc.”  

“Alaska Law Does Not Compel the Board to Adopt the Opinion of the Independent Medical Examiner.” (Brown v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Board)  While case law supports this finding, I also find that the Board selected Independent Medical Examiner’s opinion should be given sufficient weight in determining the “preponderance of evidence” when technical medical facts are disputed.

Based on the testimony and evidence, I find that the newly developed symptoms of right arm/ shoulder pain and weakness is one of a distinctly different etiology separate from the earlier symptoms of muscular neck pain.  Whether the “new” symptoms of shoulder pain/weakness and rapidly developing signs of muscular atrophy was best addressed by treating with a cervical fusion, a suprascapular nerve release, or both is not the main issue in regards to evaluating a basis for establishing or refuting the “but for” work causation argument. The cornerstone of this case is based on whether or not Dr. Wolf’s static work posture is a mechanism of injury which was the (“but for”) necessary cause for his herniated cervical disc and/or suprascapular neuropathy and ultimate disability.  

In conclusion, I find the Dr. Wolf’s work likely caused multiple temporary aggravations of his preexisting muscular neck pain.  I did not find the preponderance of evidence to support that the static posturing of a Dr. Wolf’s work is a likely “but for” cause for herniating a cervical disc or contributing to suprascapular neuropathy. 

I find it reasonable to conclude that Dr. Wolf now has a level of disability that could prevent him from performing periodontal surgery.  I find his current level of disability is due to the treated herniated cervical disc and/or suprascapular neuropathy.  I do not find his current level of disability is due to the temporary aggravations of the preexisting muscular neck pain condition.
The medical professionals involved in the adjudication process of Workers’ Compensation cases should avoid engaging in condescending argument.  Such methods only distract from the technical medical evidence the Board requires to render their opinion.  Differences of scientific medical opinion can be debated both passionately and respectfully in a professional manner.







____________________________                                 
                                                                            Dale Walaszek, Member

            If compensation is payable  under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue and penalty of 20 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court.

APPEAL PROCEDURES


This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Proceedings to appeal must be instituted in Superior Court within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.

RECONSIDERATION


A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

            Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050. 

CERTIFICATION

              I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of RANDALL C. WOLF, DDS, employee / applicant; v. WOLF DENTAL SERVICES, INC., employer; FIREMANS FUND INSURANCE CO., and Can NORTHERN ADJUSTERS, insurers / defendants; Case No. 199927043; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, this      day of November, 2000.

                             

   _________________________________

      


                 Carole Quam, Clerk
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